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DIVISION OF
OIL GAS & MINING

Hidden Valley Mine, Permit No. ACT/015/007

NOV 91

Dear Dr., Nielson:

~-26-8-2

Enclosed pursuant to your request is Hidden Valley Coal
Company's Memorandum of Points and Authorities in support of
vacating the above-entitled Notice of Violation 91-26-8-2

("NOV").

In addition, Assessment Officer Ronald Daniels

requested photographic evidence regarding the extent of damage
allegedly caused by rills forming over a period of three months.
Hidden Valley's consultant was unable to produce photographs

regarding this matter. However, the consultant testified that
rills had not formed over the three-month period. This testimony
is corroborated by Division inspection reports which do not indi-
cate the damage alleged in the proposed assessment.

During the informal hearing held in this matter on Fri-
day, December 20, 1991, the Division requested that Hidden Valley
submit a written request for extension of time in which to abate
the NOV. As you recall, I submitted a Petition for Temporary
Relief in this matter seeking an extension in the abatement
period pending review of the fact of the violation. 1In reviewing
this Petition with the Division, the Division agreed to provide
an extension in the abatement period as requested by Hidden Val-
ley without submitting the petition for temporary relief to the
Board of 0il, Gas & Mining., Hidden Valley hereby requests an
extension in the abatement period for a period of 30 days from
December 20, 1991, This extension is necessary to allow the
Division to consider whether the required abatement may cause
environmental damage and to consider the fact of the violation.
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Thank you for your assistance in this matter. We have
forwarded the Memorandum of Points and Authorities via certified
mail, return receipt requested to provide a record of service.
However, the enclosed copy is provided to expedite matters.

Very truly yours,

Denlse A. Dragoo ;
DAD: jmc

cc: Lee Edmonson (with enclosures)
Joe Jarvis (with enclosures)
Karla Knoop (with enclosures)
Ronald Daniels (with enclosures)



BEFORE THE DIVISION OF OIL, GAS & MINING
DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

STATE OF UTAH

IN THE MATTER OF THE REQUEST OF
HIDDEN VALLEY COAL COMPANY FOR
AN INFORMAL HEARING ON THE FACT
OF VIOLATION/PROPOSED PENALTY
FOR N91-26-8-2

HIDDEN VALLEY COAL COMPANY
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF
VACATING N91-26-8-2

CAUSE NO. ACT/015/007

During the informal hearing held in the above-entitled
matter on Friday, December 20, 1991, Hearing Officer, Dianne R.
Nielson, Director of the Division of 0il, Gas & Mining ("Divi-
sion"), requested Hidden Valley Coal Company ("Hidden Valley") to
brief jurisdictional defenses raised by the operator. Hidden
Valley, by and through its counsel of record, requests that
Notice of Violation N91-26-8-2 ("NOV") be vacated in its entirety
for the following reasons:

I. HIDDEN VALLEY IS EXEMPT FROM REGULATION UNDER THE FEDERAL

SURFACE MINING CONTROL & RECLAMATION ACT AND THE UTAH COAL
MINING & RECLAMATION ACT

During the informal hearing on December 20, 1991, Hid-
den Valley presented testimony concerning the history of the Hid-
den Valley Mine (the "Mine"). This Mine has never been operated
as a commercial venture. Exploratory operations at the Mine were

conducted prior to 1977; however, not a single ton of coal has



been taken from the Mine since enactment of the Surface Mining
Control & Reclamation Act of ("SMCRA") on Augqust 3, 1977. Due to
this fact, the Mine is exempted from regulation under SMCRA.
Section 701(13) of SMCRA defines an "operator" as one who removes
or intends to remove more than 250 tons of coal in any
twelve-month period in any one location, See § 40-10-3(7), Utah
Coal Mining & Reclamation Act ("UMCRA").

The regulations implementing SMCRA have applied this
definition as a 250-ton limitation on SMCRA's coverage. See 44

Fed. Reqg. 14915-14916 (1979); D. Hunt, Vol. 2 Coal Law & Requla-

tion § 42.01(2). The Office of Surface Mining ("0SM") regula-
tions at 30 C.,F.R. § 700.11(a)(2) (1991) applies SMCRA to all
coal exploration and surface coal mining and reclamation opera-
tions except:

The extraction of 250 tons of coal or less by

a person conducting a surface coal mining and

reclamation operation., The person who

intends to remove more than 250 tons is not
exempted.

It is clear that 250 tons of coal were not mined by
Hidden Valley after August 3, 1977. 1In addition, the record is
clear that Hidden Valley did not "intend" to mine 250 tons during
the permanent program. Hidden Valley has been cited for alleged
violation of a reclamation plan approved under the permanent pro-

gram of UMCRA. A reclamation plan rather than a mining permit



was obtained when Hidden Valley concluded after exploration anal-
ysis that poor quality of coal, coupled with excessive prepara-
tion and transportation costs, made the project unworkable. Let-
ter dated December 30, 1991 attached hereto. In addition, the
fact that Hidden Valley submitted a reclamation plan to the Divi-
sion does not vest jurisdiction under SMCRA or UMCRA where none

exists. Plaguemines Port, Harbor and Terminal Dist. v. Federal

Maritime Comm'n, 838 F.2d 536, 542 n.3 (D.C. Cir. 1988); see

also, A/S Ivarins Rederi v. United States, 891 F.2d 1441, 1445

(D.C. Cir. 1990).
Exemption of the Mine from requlation under SMCRA is
consistent with the Interior Board of Land Appeals' rationale in

Citizens for the Preservation of Knox County, 81 IBLA 209 (1984),

In that case, the IBLA determined that an operation extracting
coal during the interim program was not required to obtain a min-
ing permit under the permanent program and was only subject to
reclamation under the permanent program. The IBLA stated:

Both coal mining and the responsibility for
reclamation must exist within a discreet
jurisdictional time period for the require-
ments of that time period to be imposed.
Because of the jurisdictional "break" between
the interim program and the permanent pro-
gram, OSM believes that those operations
which had extracted coal only during the
interim period and which now engage only in
reclamation activities are not subject to
permitting requirements of the permanent pro-
gram. . . , If the two activities (coal
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mining and its concomitant reclamation

requirement) that triggered the present obli-

gation in one regime are not present in the

other, the permit obligation is not

triggered,
1d. p. 7. Based on this reasoning, Hidden Valley is exempt from
regulation. No coal mining activity occurred at the Mine after
1977 during the interim program; therefore, reclamation cannot be
required under the permanent program.

Hidden Valley is exempt from requlation under SMCRA and
UMCRA. Therefore, the NOV in this matter must be vacated.
II. THE NOV IS BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATION

In the alternative, in the event that the Hearing
Officer rules that Hidden Valley is not exempt from SMCRA or
UMCRA, the NOV is barred under the statute of limitation applica-
ble to State enforcement actions, Pursuant to S 40-8-9(2) of

UMCRA:

No suit, action or other proceeding based
upon a violation of this chapter, or any rule
or order issued under this chapter, may be
commenced or maintained unless the suit,
action or proceeding is commenced within two
years of the date of the alleged violation.

This two-year statute of limitation is incorporated into UMCRA
pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 40-10-4.
The NOV was sent via certified mail, return receipt

requested, on November 22, 1991, Violation 1 of 2 relates to



road outslopes and upslopes and Violation 2 of 2 relates to road
and stream disturbed outslopes and road upslopes. These areas
were not included in the reclamation plan approved by the Divi-
sion in 1986. At the Hearing Officer's request, Hidden Valley
has measured by planimeter the disturbed areas which the Division
required to be reclaimed under the approved plan as 4.2 acres for
the pad and 1.9 acres for the road. The new areas cited by the
NOV involve an additional 5-6 acres not included in the approved
plan or reclamation bond,

Hidden Valley posted a bond in the amount of
$171,716.00 based upon the approved reclamation plan. Effective
June 1, 1988, the Division approved Hidden Valley's Phase I bond
release reducing the amount of reclamation liability to reflect
backfilling, grading and revegetating activities undertaken by
the operator. Failure of the Division to take enforcement action
or otherwise require the operator to include road upslopes and
downslopes under the reclamation plan within two years of the
plan approval, or certainly within two years of Phase I bond
release, now bars the Division from enforcing the NOV,

I111. THE DIVISION HAS WAIVED OR IS ESTOPPED FROM TAKING ENFORCE-
MENT ACTION

As set forth above, the Division failed to require rec-

lamation of road outslopes and upslopes in either the approved



reclamation plan or prior to approval of Phase I bond release.
The effect of a bond release was recently discussed by the United

States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit in

National Wildlife Federation v, Lujan, 1991 W.L. 257262 (D.C.
Cir. Dec. 10, 1991). 1In that case, the D. C. Circuit upheld
OSM's rules terminating regulatory jurisdiction upon final bond
release. Although the bond released in this matter was a Phase I
release and not a final bond release, the rationale of the Court
is applicable here. The Court found that:

The regulation also strikes a reasonable bal-

ance between the gradual increase, due to

improving technology, in what legitimately

may be demanded of an operator, and an opera-

tor's need for certainty regarding closed

sites. . . . It would not be appropriate . .

. to require operators who had . . . met the

standards of their permits and the applicable

regulatory program to . . . reclaim [in

accordance with new technology]. 53 Fed.

Req. 44361 (1988).
Id. p. 5. In this case, the Division is attempting to impose
stricter standards than those required under the reclamation plan
approved in 1986, The Division has had more than five years in
which to review the plan and determine its adequacy. During that
period of time, the Division has approved Hidden Valley's recla-
mation operations, approved Phase I of those operations and has
approved a commensurate reduction in the reclamation bond. As

set forth by the D.C. Circuit in National Wildlife Foundation,




the operator is entitled to rely on an approved reclamation plan
and bond release to assure some regulatory certainty. Imposition
of the NOV is now estopped or waived by the Division's approval
of the reclamation plan and/or the Phase I bond release. For
these reasons, the NOV in this matter must be vacated.

RESPECTFULLY submitted this 30th day of December, 1991.
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DeniSe A. Dragoo 67' -
FABIAN & CLENDENIN,

a Professional Corporation
215 South State Street
Twelfth Floor
P.O. Box 510210
Salt Lake City, Utah 84151
Telephone: (801) 531-8900
Attorneys for Hidden Valley Coal
Company

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 30th day of December,
1991, the foregoing Memorandum of Points & Authorities was mailed
via certified mail, return receipt requested, to:

Dr. Dianne R. Nielson, Director
Utah Division of 0il, Gas & Mining
3 Triad Center, Suite 350

355 West North Temple

Salt Lake City, Utah 84180

DAD:123091a
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The CaiMat Companies -

Decubu_': 30, 1991

Denise Dragoo, Esq.

Fabian & Clendenin

P.O. Box 810210

Salt Lake City, Utah 84151

Dear Denise,

I have given aome thought to the position wve took recently on
the issue of whether or not the Hidden Valley Mine was aever an
"operator® and subject to reclamation regulations.

We know that 250 tons of ccal was pot mnined after August 3,
1977. To shed some light upon vhather or not wa "intended®™ to be
a mine we are searching the ninutes of Board meetings for the
Company and its parent organization.

A nine is not put into production without exploration and
feasibility analysis. The intent is always to conduct sufficient
tests and studies to determine if a fro-pect nay be economically
developed. In the case of tha Hidden Vallay Mine site the
conclusion of the exploration analysis was that poor coal quality,
coupled with axcessive preparation and transportation costs, made
the project unworkable. The Company elected to not develop a mine
because it could not project a profitable return on the estimated
investment required.

At that point it was clearly the intent of the Company not to
mine the property. Further exploratory work was halted, the
subaidiary Hidden Valley Coal Company's valuable assets were sold
(thers was an operating aine in Soldier Creek Canyon), and the
Hidden Valley site was basically mothballed. The property has
pericdically been on the market for sale with no takers.

This is a brief synopsis of what has transpired at the aite
based upon my search of our filess and conversations with some

1801 E UNIVERBITY DRIVE / PHOENIX, AZ 85034 / P.Q. BOX 52012, ZIP 5072 / (602) 254-3485
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Danise Dragoo, Esq.
Decamber 30, 19%1
Pages 2

of the pecple within CalMat who ware involved in the progression
o2 events which led to the final decision to halt pre-developnent
activities at the site.

Sincerely,

Ridden Vallaey Coal Company

P towrria
Iaa Bduwonson, Agsistant Secretary and
Manager, Planning & Regqulatory Affairs

LE/des
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NATIONAL WILDLIFE FEDERATION, et al., Appellees
V.
Manuel LUJAN, Jr., Secretary, Department of the Interior, et al., Appellants
Nos. 90-53%2, 90-5364, 90-53%56 & 90-5358

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT
Arqued September 23, 1991
Decided December 10, 1991

Appeals from the United States District Court for the District of Columbia

Dirk D. Snel, Attorney, Department of Justice, with whom Richard B. Stewart,
Assistant Attorney General, Alfred T. Ghiorzi, Edward J. Shawaker, and Jacques
B. Gelin, Attorneys, Department of Justice, were on the brief, for appellants,
Secretary of the Interior, et al., in %0-53%2, 90-5356 and 90-93%8.

J. Michael Klise, with whom John A. Macleod, Thomas C. Means, and Harold P.
Quinn, Jr. for National Coal Association, and Edward M. Green and Stuart A,
Sanderson for American Mining Congress, were on the brief, for appellants
National Coal Association and American Mining Congress in %0-5354.

L. Thomas Galloway, with whom Glenn P. Sugameli and Thomas J. FitzGerald, were
on the brief, for appellees in 90-%3%2, 90-53%4, 90-%3%6 and 90-53%8.

Lawrence G, McBride was on the brief, for amicus curiae Interstate Mining
Compact Commission urging that the District Court's order be reversed and the
Secretary's rule be reinstated.

Before: WALD, D.H. GINSBURE and RANDOLPH, Circuit Judges.

RANDOLPH, Circuit Judge:

#] Surface coal mining is a temporary use of the land. When mining ends
the land must be restored. After revegetation is complete, and sufficient time
has passed to ensure its success-% years in the east, 10 years in the arid
west-a mine operator who has fulfilled all legal requirements is entitled to
have his performance bond released. The principal question in this case is
whether under the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977, 30
U.S5.C. ss 1201-1328 (1988), regulatory jurisdiction may then be terminated.

The Secretary of the Interior issued regulations so providing. See %2 Fed.
Reg. 24,092 (1987) (Notice of Proposed Rulemaking); 53 Fed. Reg. 44,3%6

(1988) (Final Rule). The district court, at the behest of the National
Wildlife Federation and others (" "NWF' '), struck them down. National
Wildlife Fed'n v. Interior Dep't, 31 Env't Rep. Cas. (BNR) 2034, 2040-41
(D.D.C. 19%0). Because we find the Act silent on the issue presented and the
Secretary's interpretation permissible, we reverse. [FN1]

As night follows day, litigation follows rulemaking under this statute. Since
the Act's passage in 1977, in cases challenging reqgulations, our opinions have
described in considerable detail the Act's structure and operation. [FN2]1 UWe
shall assume familiarity with those opinions. In brief, the Act is intended to
protect the environment from the adverse effects of surface coal mining while
ensuring an adequate supply of coal to meet the nation's energy requirements,.
30 U.S.C. & 1202Ca), (f). Section 501(b) directs the Secretary to promulgate

COPR. (C) WEST 1991 NO CLAIM TO ORIG. U.S. GOUT. WORKS
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regulations establishing regulatory procedures and performance standards

" "conforming to the provisions of' ' the Act (30 U.S.C. s 1251(b)). Section

515 contains detailed " "environmental protection performance standards' '
applicable to " "all surface coal mining and reclamation operations.' ' 730
U.S.C. s 126%. Through the Dffice of Surface Mining Reclamation and
Enforcement (" "OSMRE' '), the Secretary is to take steps " "necessary to

insure compliance with' ' the Act. 30 U.S.C., s 1211(a), (c)(1). The states too
have a significant role to play. After an interim period of federal
regulation, states had the option of proposing plans for implementing the Act
consistent with federal standards on non-federal lands. UWhen the Secretary
approved the programs submitted by the states, those states became primarily
responsible for regulating surface coal mining and reclamation in the non-
federal areas within their borders. 30 U.S.C. s 1253. In states not having an
approved program, the Secretary implemented a federal program. 30 U.S.C. s
1254(a), (b). The " "permanent program' ' regulations issued under section
501(b) set standards for federally-approved state programs and for the federal
program that takes effect when a State fails to " "implement, enforce, or
maintain' ' its program. 30 U.S5.C. s 12%4(a). Enforcement is carried out by
the " “regulatory authority,' ' that is, the state agency administering the
federally-approved program, the Secretary administering a federal program, or
OSMRE conducting oversight of state programs. See 30 C.F.R. s 700.5.

#2 The primary means of ensuring compliance is the permit system

established in sections %06 through %14 and section 515(a). 30 U.S.C. ss 129%6-

1264, 126%5(a). A permit is required for " "any surface coal mining
operations.' ' [FN31 30 U.S.C. s 12%6. Summaries of applications for permits
must be published, and objections may be submitted by local agencies or by

" "any person hawving an interest which ... may be adversely affected' ' by a

proposed operation. 30 U.S.C. s 1263. Each application must include a
reclamation plan. Section %07(d), 30 U.S.C. s 1267(d). A reclamation plan
describes the present use of the land, proposed and possible post-mining uses
of the land, and what steps the operator will take to ensure the wviability of
the latter. Among other things, the plan must show how the operator will
achieve scil reconstruction and revegetation of the mined area. Section %08,
30 U.S.C. s 1258, [FN4]1 A permit application can only be approved if it
demonstrates that " "all requirements' ' of the Act have been satisfied and
that " "reclamation as required by [the Act] ... can be accomplished.' ' 30
U.S.C. s 1260.

Section 509 requires the operator to post a performance bond in an amount
sufficient to secure completion of reclamation. The operator and the surety
remain liable under the bond for the duration of the surface mining and
reclamation operation and until the end of the " "revegetation period' ' (% or
10 years) prescribed by section %15(20). 30 U.S.C. s 125%(b). At that time,
the operator may petition the regulatory authority for release of the bond.
The petition must be published, and is subject to the same opportunities for
comment and hearing as the permit application. 30 C.F.R. s 800.40¢a)(2),
(b3(2). Further, " "[nlo bond shall be fully released ... until reclamation
requirements of the Act and the permit are fully met.' ' 1Id. s 800.40(c)(3),

Prior to this rulemaking, the relationship betwesn bond release and continuing
requlatory jurisdiction was unclear. 53 Fed. Reg. 44,356 (1988). State
authorities would decline to act on violations reported after bond releass,

COPR. (C) WEST 1991 NO CLAIM TO ORIG. U.S. GOVT. WORKS
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even when the allegation was that the bond had been released improperly. In
some such cases, OSMRE would re-assert jurisdiction directly. Id. This led to
confusion about whether a site was or was not subject to the Act. In order to
end this confusion, the Secretary promulgated the rules at issue, which specify
when regulatory jurisdiction over a site terminates. Id. Thus, 30 C.F.R. s
700.11(d) (1) provides that " "a regulatory authority may terminate its
jurisdiction ... over [a] reclaimed site' ' when (and only when) the authority
determines (either independently or pursuant to a bond release) that " "all
requirements imposed' ' have been completed. [FN51 Id. By tying termination
of jurisdiction to bond release, the Secretary sought to resolve doubts about
the former, while imposing minimum standards for the latter on the state
authorities.

*3 In the district court NWF claimed that it was " "premature' ' to
terminate regulatory jurisdiction at the time of bond relesase. Complaint of
National Wildlife Federation at 14, Civ. No. 88-334% (D.D.C. filed Nov. 17,
1988). The district court interpreted NWF's complaint not simply as an
objection to timing, but as an attack on " "the concept of terminating
jurisdiction.' ' National Wildlife Fed'n v. Interior Dep't, 31 Env't Rep,
Cas. (BNA) at 2039. Seizing on language found in section 521 of the Act, 30
U.S.C. & 1271, the court noted that the Secretary was under " "an ongoing
duty ... to correct violations ... without limitation.' ' 31 Env't Rep. Cas.
(BNA) at 2040. The court also believed that allowing termination of
jurisdiction would " "hinder' ' the Act's goal of " "protectling] the
environment.' ' Id. at 2041. In view of these considerations, the court
believed it proper to interpret Congress' silence on the precise question of
termination of jurisdiction as a call for perpetual requlation. Id.

The district court's opinion and NWF's claim of prematurity suffer from the
same flaw. Section 521 cannot be read to express or assume that regulatary
jurisdiction over a surface coal mining and reclamation operation must continue
forever, [t is true that section %21 requires the regulatory authority to
" "take ..., action' ' " "whenever' ' a violation occurs, 30 U.S.C. s
1271(a) (1) (emphasis added). But by " "action,' ' section 521 means primarily
the issuance of an order requiring " “cessation of surface coal mining and
reclamation operations.' ' 30 U.S.C. s 1271(a)(2). Section 521(a)(2) also
empowers the Secretary to impose other " "affirmative obligations' ' on the
operator; these, however, are to be exacted " "in addition to the cessation
order,' ' 30 U.S.C. s 1271(a)(2). It thus appears that Congress contemplated
enforcement actions only during mining and reclamation operations. I[f the site
were no longer the scene of a " "surface coal mining and reclamation
operation,’ ' and it could not be by the time the bond is released, it would be
difficult to see how section %21 could nevertheless continue to apply. The
regulation, then, cannot be upheld or struck down solely by reference to
Congress' intent, at least not as that intent was expressed in section %21,

NWF also argues that section 520 of the Act, the citizen suit provision,
requires everlasting regulatory jurisdiction. Brief of Appellees at 21. That
section gives any person having an interest that is, or may be, adversely
affected a cause of action " "against ... any ... person who is alleged to be
in violation of ... this subchapter.' ' 30 U.S.C. s 1270. NWF appears to
believe that if a post-bond release site is no longer a " "surface coal mining
and reclamation operation' ' subject to requlation under section %21, then the

COPR., (C) WEST 1991 NO CLAIM TO ORIG. U.S. GOUT. WORKS
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former operator of the site could not be subject to the civil suit provisions
of section 520. We have trouble following NWF's argument. Congress may or may
not have intended that citizens' suits could be brought at any time after
operations ceased, a matter about which we express no opinion. Houwever,
nothing in the regulation at issue even applies to section 520 citizens'

suits. See %3 Fed. Reg. 44,358 (1988)., [FN6] And Congress gave no indication
that section 520 should control the rest of the Act. It is therefore of no
moment that citizens' suits might be unconstrained by any statute of
limitations.

*4 Because the Act " "does not evince a clear congressional intent on the
issue' ' whether regulatory jurisdiction may terminate, " "the gquestion becomes
whether the Secretary's regulation is based on a permissible interpretation of
the Act.' ' National Wildlife Fed'n v. Lujan, 928 F.2d 4%3, 4%9 (D.C. Cir.
1991). NWF has two fallback positions. First, even if Congress did not
expressly require perpetual regulatory jurisdiction, the regulation is not a
reasonable interpretation of the Act. In support, NWF cites instances in which
0SMRE has re-asserted jurisdiction after a state authority has improperly
released a bond. [FN?] Second, NWF argues that the existence of such cases,
and OSMRE's practice of re-asserting jurisdiction when necessary, render this
regulation an arbitrary and capricious change from prior practice. Id. The
district court accepted these arguments, at least in part, stating that " "it
would be better for the government to have the power to deal' ' with violations
coming to light after bond release. 31 Env't Rep. Cas. (BNA) at 2041,

The court's point is not well-taken. The confusion engendered by the prior
policy necessitated the instant rulemaking. It cannot be " "arbitrary and
capricious' ' to formulate a new policy when faced with clear evidence
(evidence cited by NWF here) of the inadequacy of the old one. More
importantly, the regulation itself clearly speaks to the concerns voiced by the

district court and NWF. " "[Tlhe requlatory authority shall reassert
jurisdiction if ... the bond release ... was based upon fraud, collusion, or
misrepresentation.' ' 30 C.F.R. s 700.11(d)(2) (emphasis added). The question

1s whether the effect of the requlation comports with the statutory scheme. UWe
believe that it does in light of the language of the regulation and the
interpretation provided in both the preamble and the Secretary's brief here,

The preamble adopts an objective standard, stating that jurisdiction must be
re-asserted whenever " "any reasonable person could determins' ' that fraud,
collusion or misrepresentation had occurred. %3 Fed. Reg. 44,359 (1988). The
Secretary's brief not only adopts this standard but also clarifies its scope:

[t is important to note in this connection that the filing of an application
for bond release is in itself a representation that the operator has satisfied
his reclamation obligations since an operator is not entitled to release from
the bond unless he has met those obligations.... If an operator applies for
release but has not fulfilled his obligations, he is guilty of
misrepresentation by the very fact of making an application.

Brief for the Secretary at 27 n.1l., This is a reasonable way of implementing
the Act's condition " "[tlhat no bond shall be fully released until all
reclamation requirements of this chapter are fully met.' ' 30 U.S.C. s
1269(c)(3). The condition implies that after reclamation requirements are met,
the bond may be " "fully released.' ' Id. When it turns out that the oparator
had in fact not fulfilled its reclamation obligations at the time of release,
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the Secretary's interpretation of " "misrepresentation' ' ensures that
jurisdiction " “"shall' ' be reasserted. 30 C.F.R. s 700.11(d)(2},

*5 NWF apparently believes that because, under the requlations, it is
possible for some operators to avoid liability for violations of the Act that
are undiscovered or undiscoverable at the time of bond release, the regulations
improperly fail to promote the Act's purpose protection of the environment.

The Act, however, was a compromise, designed both to protect the environment
and to ensure an adequate supply of coal to meet the nation's energy
requirements. See 30 U.S.C. s 1202(a), (f). The Secretary struck a reascnable
balance between these competing interests in his interpretation of the Act
(and, as noted above, responded to NWF's concerns about unabated environmental
harm by adding 30 C.F.R. s 700.11(d)(2)).

The requlation also strikes a reascnable balance between the gradual increase,
due to improving technology, in what legitimately may be demanded of an
operator, and an operator's need for certainty regarding closed sites. " "It
would not be appropriate ... to require operators who had ... met the standards
of their permits and the applicable requlatory program to ... reclaim {closed
sites]l in accordance with new technology.' ' 93 Fed. Reg. 44,361 (1988).

In short, we find the regulation consistent with the goals of the Act and a
reasonable interpretation of it. Furthermore, the factors supporting " "the
concept of terminating jurisdiction,’' ' 31 Env't Rep. Cas. (BNA) at 2039,
buttress the Secretary's decision to use bond relesass as the point at which
termination occurs. Until bond release the operator is still liable, and an
attempt to terminate jurisdiction sooner would violate the terms of the Act.
Nothing in the statute speaks in fixed temporal terms of regulation after bond
releasa, Under the requlation that 1s the point at which the regulatory
authority must " "sign off' ' on the reclamation project. Bond release also
has the advantage of being an independently identifiable point in time. For
these reasons the Secretary's choice was not arbitrary or capricious.
Accordingly, we reverse the district court's judgment insofar as it invalidated
30 C.F.R. s 7200.11(d).

There remains only the question whether the portion of the district court's
opinion dealing with 30 C.F.R, s B40.11(g)-(h) and 30 C.F.R. s 842.11(e)~(f)
must be vacated to allow the Secretary to engage in what he terms " '"curative
rulemaking.' ' Brief for the Secretary at 29. The cited regulations sought to
reduce the frequency of inspection at what the Secretary termed " “"abandoned
sites,' ' 31 Env't Rep. Cas. (BNA) at 2042. The district court noted that the
language of section %17(c), 30 U.S.C. s 1267(c), [FNB] expressly set a minimum
inspection schedule for mining operations, and that the regulations fell below
the minimum. Accordingly, the court held the regulations invalid. The
Secretary concedes the correctness of this reading of the statute. Brief for

the Secretary at 32. The Secretary wishes, however, to re-define " "abandoned
sites' ' to include only those sites where " "a permit has either "expired or
been revoked.' ' ' Id. (citations omitted)., He asserts that such a reading is
permissible in light of the " "covered by each permit' ' language of section

%17, and that the district court's ruling must be vacated to allow him to
promulgate a new requlation.
*6 UWe express no view about the validity of the Secretary's proposed
reading. The significant point on this appeal is that the district court's
decision does not stand in the way of the Secretary's adopting it in a new
COPR. (C) WEST 1991 NO CLAIM TO ORIG. U.S. GOVUT. WORKS
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rulemaking. The district court expressly relied on the language of section
517(c), and applied it to the requlation's definition of " "abandoned site.'
31 Env't Rep. Cas. (BNA) at 2042, 2044. In light of the conflict between the
Act and the regulation, the district court remanded the regulation to the
Secretary " "to be withdrawn or revised.' ' Id. at 2068 (emphasis added). LUe
cannot understand why, in the face of this statement, the Secretary would think
new rulemaking might be inconsistent with the district court's judgment. [FN%1

The portion of the district court's opinion striking down 30 C.F.R. s
700.11(d) is reversed. We decline to vacate the portion of the district
court's opinion remanding to the Secretary 30 C.F.R. ss 840.11(g)-(h) and
842.11(e)-(f).

It is so ordered.

FN1. The Secretary also asks us to vacate the portion of the district
court's opinion requiring him to withdraw or revise 30 C.F.R. s 840.11(g)-
(h) and 30 C.F.R. s B42.11(e)-(f). Those regulations, which the Secretary
here concedes were invalid as promulgated, Brief for the Secretary at 32,
governed inspection of abandoned sites. The Secretary believes the
district court's opinion would prevent any further rulemaking on the
subject of abandoned site inspections.

FN2. National Wildlife Fed'n v. Lujan, 928 F.2d 4%3 (D.C. Cir. 1991);
National Wildlife Fed'n v. Hodel, 839 F.2d 694 (D.C. Cir. 1988); In re
Permanent Surface Mining Requlation Litig., 6%3 F.2d 514 (D.C. Cir.), cert.
denied, 454 U.S. 822 (1981); In re Surface Mining Regulation Litig., 627
F.2d 1346 (D.C. Cir. 1980).

FN3. Apart from the minor exceptions set forth in section 528, 30 U.S.C. s
1278.

FN4. The revegetation standards require that an operator establish " "a
diverse, effective and permanent vegetative cover' ' over the area after
mining has ceased. 30 U.S5.C. s 126%(bJ)(19). By the terms of the fAct, the
operator " "assumels] the responsibility' ' for success of the revegetation
program for % years (10 years in the arid Western states) after the
revegetation standard is first met, 30 U,S.C. s 126%(b)(20).

FN%, The full text of 30 C.F.R. s 700.11(d) reads:
(1) A regulatory authority may terminate its jurisdiction under the
regulatory program over the reclaimed site of a completed surface coal
mining and reclamation operation, or increment thereof, when:
(1) The regulatory authority determines in writing that under the initial
program, all requirements imposed under subchapter B of this chapter have
been successfully completed; or
(11) The regulatory authority determines in writing that under the
permanent program, all requirements imposed under the applicable requlatory
program have been successfully completed or, where a performance bond was
required, the regulatory authority has made a final decision in accordance
with the State or Federal program counterpart to part 800 of this chapter
to ralease the performance bond fully.
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(2) Following a termination under paragraph (d)}(1) of this section, the
regulatory authority shall reassert jurisdiction under the regulatory
program over @ site if it is demonstrated that the bond release or written
determination referred to in paragraph (d)(1) of this section was based
upon fraud, collusion, or misrepresentation of a material fact.

FN6. Counsel for the Secretary reaffirmed this interpretation at oral
argument, stating that the Secretary has not addressed the status of
citizen suits, and that the issue is still open. UWe further note that
because the citizens' suit provision seems to speak to the district courts,
not the Secretary, it is not clear that we would defer to the Secretary's
interpretation were he to offer one. See Adams Fruit Co. v, Barrett, 110
S. Ct. 1384, 1390 (1990); cf. UWagner Seed Co. v. Bush, No. 8%9-5139, slip
op. at 9-11 (D.C. Cir. Oct. 15, 1991},

FN7. Bond release in such cases was " "improper' ' because viclations had
existed at the time of release.

FNB. " "The inspections by the regulatory authority shall (1) occur on an
irregular basis averaging not less than one partial inspection per month
and one complete inspection per calendar gquarter for the ... operation
covered by each permit....' ' 30 U.S5.C. s 1267(c).

FN?. An attempt to re-promulgate the same regulation would of course be
governed by principles of res judicata and stare decisis. Cf. Bowen v.
Georgetown Univ. Hosp., 488 U.S. 204 (1988).

C.A.D.C.,1991.

NATIONAL WILDLIFE FEDERATION, et al., Appellees v. Manuel LUJAN, Jr.,
Secretary, Department of the Interior, et al., Appellants

--- F.2d ----, 1991 WL 257262 (D.C.Cir.)
END OF DOCUMENT
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INDEX CODE:

30 CFR 771,11

30 CFR 271.21(a) (1)
30 CFR Part 780

30 CFR B42.14(a)

30 CFR 842.15(d)

30 CFR 843.15

30 CFR 843.16

30 CFR 913.10

TLAW" WESTLAW"

Appeal from the decision of the Director, Office of Surface Mining, denying
appellant's request for a Federal inspection and Federal enforcement action.

Affirmed.
l. Rules of Practice: Appeals: Standing toc Appeal

Where appellant's statement of reasons for appeal asserts that many of its
members live in close proximity to a mine and are adversely affected in
their property, aesthetic, and recreational interests as a result of the
mine owner's failure to comply with the permitting requirements of the
approved Illinois program, appellant has standing to appeal the decision
of the Director, 0OSM, finding that there is no violation by the mine
uner,

2. Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977: Appeals:
Generall--Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977: Permit
Application: Generally

O0SM properly refused to conduct a Federal inspection or undertake
enforcement action where a mine owner continued to conduct only
reclamation operations under an interim permit after 8 manths following
approval of a state's permanent program. SMCRA and the applicable
requlations do not require an operator who has ceased all mining

operations prior to the approval of a state's permanent program to obtain
a permanent program permit.

3. Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977t Permit
Application: Generally

Where, under circumstances of this case, it is determined that reclamation
operations proceeding under an interim permit do not require a permanent
COPR. (C) 1991 ROCKY MOUNTAIN MINERAL LAW FOUNDATION
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program permit, such operations need not comply with the public
participation and substantive reclamation requirements of the permanent
program.

4, Constitutional Law: Due Process

Due process requirements are met so long as notice is given and an
opportunity to be heard is granted before deprivation of property becomes
final.

APPEARANCES: Mark Squillace, Esg., Susan A. Shands, Esq., Washington,

D.C., for appellant; Milo Mason, Esq., Walton D. Morris, Jr., Esq., Office of
the Solicitor, for the Office of Surface Mining; Robert A. Creamer, Esq.,
Chicago, lllinois, for intervenor Midland Coal Company.

OPINION BY ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE STUEBING

Appellant appeals the decision of the Director, Office of Surface Mining
(DOSM), dated December 16, 1982, denying appellant's request for a Federal
inspection and Federal enforcement action at the Midland Coal Company's
(Midland) Mecco Mine in Knox County, Illinois,

Midland began a surface coal mining operation at the Mecco Mine in 19%4.

After the esnactment of the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977
(SMCRA), 30 U.S.C. s 1201 (1982), Midland obtained various interim permits from
the Illinois Department of Mines and Minerals, including permit Nos. 567-79,
823-82, B24-82, 83%-82, Gob 30, Gob 6%, and Slurry 87. [FN11 By letter dated
May 21, 1982, Phil L. Christy, Reclamation Diractor for Midland, notified
Douglas Downing of the Illinois Department of Mines and Minerals, Land
Reclamation Division, that Midland had declared a permanent cessation of
operations at the Mecco Mine. [FN2]1 Christy advised Downing that reclamation
activities consisting of topsoil replacement in parcel 2 of permit No.

823-82 [FN3] and haulage road reclamation work on permit No. 824-82 [FN4)] were
planned for 1982. He further advised that Midland was planning an additional 2
years to complete the reclamation on the haulage roads, support facility, and
refuse areas; and requested an extension of time to December 1, 1984, 'to

complete the reclamation grading on all above areas' (Christy letter of May 21,
1982).

On June 1, 1982, the Secretary of the Interior approved the Illinois
permanent program. 30 CFR $13.10. That program provides, in part, that:

Not later than two months following the approval of the [llinois permanent
program * * ¥, all operators of surface coal mines in expectation of operating
such mines after the expiration of eight months from the approval of the
[llinois permanent program * * * shall file an application for a permit with
the Department. Such application shall cover those lands to be mined after the
expiration of eight months from the approval of the [llinois program * * #,
[Emphasis added.]

I. R. 1700.11(F).
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By letter dated June 26, 1982, appellant wrote to Midland commenting on
Midland's May 21, 1982, letter to the State and stated:

As you know such reclamation is considered surface coal mining and
reclamation operations under the Federal Act and State Permanent Program.
You'll be doing reclamation work well past February of 1983 which is eight
months after the State got primacy. As we understand the Program, Midland needs
to submit a permanent program application to the Illinois Department of Mines
and Minerals by August 1, 1982,

On August 25, 1982, Mary Jo Murray, Chief Legal Counsel, Land Reclamation
Division, Illinois Department of Mines and Minerals, responded to appellant's
inquiry asking whether Midland would be required to submit a permanent program
permit application in order to continue to conduct reclamation activities at
its Mecco Mine. Murray concluded that a permanent program permit was
not necessary for reclamation activities alone. The conclusion was based on a
reading of the applicable Illinois Rules and Regqulations. (FN%]

Midland, never having applied to Illinois for a permanent program permit for
its reclamation operation on parcel 2 (permit No. 823-82) and the haul road
area (permit No. 824-82), continued to proceed according to reclamation plans
approved under the interim program.

On August 27, 1982, appellant filed a citizen complaint with 0SM requesting a
Federal inspection and Federal enforcement action against Midland for
conducting surface coal mining and reclamation operations at the Mecco Mine
without applying for a permanent program permit within 2 months from the date
of approval of the [llinois permanent program by the Secretary of the
Interior. By letter dated September 3, 1982, Daniel A. Jones, Director, OSM
I1linois Field Office, determined that a permanent program permit is not

required where an operator proposes to conduct only reclamation operations.
[FN61

On October 13, 1982, appellant requested informal review of the Jones'
decision in accordance with 30 CFR 842.15, arguing that the OSM decisiaon set an
unlawful precedent for the consideration of permits for operators who have
completed mining but are continuing reclamation activities under recently

approved state programs. [FN71 A follow-up letter was sent by appellant on
November 3, 1982.

By letter dated December 16, 1982, the Director, 0SM, affirmed the
QOnes' decision. 0SM reiterated its position that a permanent program permit
is not necessary for the Mecco Mine because, in the Director's words:

We believe that the permit requirements of Section 508 apply to the conduct
of surface coal mining operations which include the extraction of or
the intent to extract coal. . . . [Tlhe conduct of reclamation activities
where no further mining of coal is to occur does not necessitate obtaining a
permanent program permit. Midland does not intend to mine any more coal on
COPR. (C) 1991 ROCKY MOUNTAIN MINERAL AW FOUNDATION
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this site. Consequently, Midland Coal is not required under SMCRA to obtain a
permanent program permit to complete reclamation at the Mecco Mine.

On January 10, 1983, appellant filed a notice of appeal challenging the
Director's decision denying appellant's request for Federal inspection and
enforcement action against Midland for violating the permitting requirements of
the approved [llinois program. Appellant asserts in ths statement of reasons
that (1) the Illinois program requires permits for reclamation operations,
because the I[llinois regulation at 1771.21(a)(1) is directed at persons who
conduct or expect to conduct 'surface coal mining and reclamation operations';
and (2) the public participation and substantive reclamation requirements of
the approved lllinois permanent program will be met only by requiring
reclamation operations to operate under the permanent program,

0SM in its answer argues that the Secretary's regulations do not require a
permanent program permit for reclamation activities where coal extraction was
completed during the interim program period. Further, 0OSM asserts that
requiring Midland to obtain a permanent program permit when conducting only
reclamation activities might encourage abandonment of interim program
ocperations because of the unrecoverable expenditures created by the permanent

program permitting process which could result in financial ruin for the
operator.

Intervenor Midland in its answer to appellant's statement of reasons asserts
that appellants lacks standing, that granting appellant's appeal would deny
Midland due process, and that appellant's position is not supported by SMCRA ar
policy considerations.

{11 Midland's challenge to appellant's standing rests on its assertion that
appellant has failed to demonstrate that it has any interest which is or may be
adversely affected by 0SM's decision. The applicable regulation at 30 CFR
842.14(a) provides that:

Any person who is or may be adversely affected by a * * * surface coal mining
and reclamation operation may ask the Director * * * to review informally an
authorized representative's decision not to inspect or take appropriate
enforcement action with respect to any violation alleged by that person in a
request for Federal inspection under s 842.12.

The reguiation at 30 CFR 842.1%5(d) then provides that the written decision by
the Director is appealable to this Board. Midland contends, relying on Pacific
Legal Foundation v. Gorsuch, 690 F.2d 725 (9th Cir. 1982), that no injury in
fact to appellant has been shown and that appellant must have more than a mere
interest in a problem to render it adversely affected.

We disagree. Appellant's situation is unlike that of the
Pacific Legal Foundation, supra. Appellant stated that it has approximately
300 members, many of whom live in close proximity to the Mecco Mine and are
adversely affected in their property, aesthetic, and recreational interests as
a result of Midland's failure to comply with the permitting requirements of
this approved Illinois program. Appellant clearly has standing to bring this
COPR, (C) 19921 ROCKY MOUNTAIN MINERAL LAW FOUNDATION
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action. Cady v. Marton, 527 F.2d 786, 791 (9th Cir. 197%); Sierra Club wv.
Moton, 514 F.2d 856, 869-70 n.20 (D.C. Cir. 197%), rev'd sub nom. on other
grounds, Kleppe v. Sierra Club, 427 U.S. 390 (1976). ©See also Montgomery

Environmental Coalition v, Costle, 646 F.2d 568, 576-78 (D.C. Cir. 1980);

Virginians for Dulles v. Uolpe, 941 F.2d 442, 444 (4th Cir. 1976).

(2] We now turn our attention to the basic issue before this Board: whether
Midland, having completed all mining operations under an interim program permit
and prior to approval of a permanent permit program in Illinois, is required to
obtain a permanent program permit for its remaining reclamation operations.

Although appellant challenges the interpretation given to the Illinois
regulations, [FN8] our concern focuses on the applicable sections of SMCRA and
the Federal requlations to see whether the interpretation given to the Illinois
regulations is consistent with the Federal requirements.

Section 502 of SMCRA authorizes and establishes the interim program for
regulating surface coal mining operations. [FN?] Section %502(d) states that

Not later than two months following the approval of a State program
pursuant to section 503 * * * al] operators of surface coal mines in
expectation of operating such mines after the expiration of eight months from
the approval of a State program * * * shall file an application for a permit
with the regulatory authority. Such application shall cover those lands to be
mined after the expiration of eight months from the approval of a State
program * * %,
30 U.5.C. s 1252(d) (1982).

The language of the statute specifies that 'operators' of surface coal mines
who expect to be mining after the expiration of 8 months from the approval of a
state program must file for a peranent program permit to cover those lands to
be mined. An operator is defined by SMCRA at section 701(13) to be 'any
person, partnership, or corporation engaged in coal mining who removes or
intends to remove more than two hundred and fifty tons of coal from the earth
by coal mining within twelve consecutive calendar months in any one location.'

Section 506(a) of SMCRA, addressing the requirements of obtaining a permit
under the permanent permit program, states that 'no person shall engage
in * * * any surface coal mining operations unless such person has first
obtained a permit issued * * * pyrsuant to an approved State program.' An
exception is provided, however, for 'a person conducting surface coal mining
operations under a permit from the State regulatory authority, issued in
accordance with the provisions of section 502.' (Emphasis added.) Such a
person 'may conduct such operations' beyond the 8-month period if an
application for a permanent permit has been filed but a decision has not yet
been rendered. H.R. Rep. No. 95-218 at page 86 (April 22, 1977) discusses
section 206(a) by stating that 'Operators are required to obtain permits 8
months after approval of a State program. * * * Mines gperating under existing
permits may continue to mine without a new permit, however, if an
administrative decision has not been rendered during that period.’' (Emphasis
COPR. (C) 19%1 ROCKY MOUNTAIN MINERAL LAW FOUNDATION
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The thrust of the statutory language i1s directed at mining. SMCRA and

its legislative history reveal that Congress contemplated the regulation of
mining operations and that it is the undertaking of such mining operations that
triggers the necessity for a permit under SMCRA.

Midland declared, and appellant does not challenge, that there was a
permanent cessation of mining cperations at the Mecco Mine prior to approval of
the I[llinois permanent permit program on June 1, 1982, Thus, at the time the
permanent program was approved, Midland was not an operator of a surface coal
mine at Mecca with any expectation of opsrating such mine. There was no land
being mined or expected to be mined, and the land which was the subject of the
continuing reclamation work had never been mined.

Appellant argues, however, that the regulations provide that permits are
required for reclamation operations. The pertinent regulations for our review
are the Federal regulations to be found at 30 CFR 771.11 [FN101 and 30 CFR
771.21(a) (1), (FN111 both of which cite section 502(d) and section 506(a) as
their statutory authority. [FN12]1 Appellant contends that since the language
used in the applicable requlations is 'surface mining and reclamation
operations' (rather than 'surface coal mining operations' as used in the
statute) that the regulations expressly make the permitting standards
applicable to reclamation operations. The preamble to the proposed regulations
stated, however, that

Section 771.11 is proposed to implement particularly Sections 102(b), (ec),
(d), (e) and 506(a) of the Act, so that mining is not conducted under
regulatory programs, until after the requlatory authority has determined that
the operations will be conducted in compliance with the applicable
environmental protection performance standards of Subchapter K. [Emphasis
added. ]

43 FR 41687 (Sept. 18, 1978). The preamble to the proposed regulation at 30
CFR 771.19(a), which was renumbered in the final requlation as section
771.21(a)(1), stated:

Subsection (a) would implement the deadlines found in Sections 502(d) and
506(a) of the Act. Under Subsection (a), if an operator expects to be mining
eight months or more from the time of the approval of a regulatory
program, he would have to submit an application for a permit under that program
no more than two months after the approval of that program by the Secretary.
[Emphasis added.]

43 FR 41688 (Sept. 18, 1978). The statement of purpose for both regulations
explained that mining is to be conducted under the regulatory program and that
only an 'operator' who expects to be mining eight months after state primacy
need apply for a permanent permit. These explicit explanations concerning
mining are reiterated by reference in the preamble to the final regulation. 44
FR 15014-1%01% (Mar. 13, 1979). Consequently, it seems reasonable to conclude
that the regulations express an anticipation that where there is mining, there
is also to be reclamation.
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We find that the foregoing material lends itself to the interpretation
advocated by 0SM before this Beard. [FN13] Although the regulations refer to
surface coal mining and reclamation operations, OSM argues that the use of the
conjunctive 'and' rather than the disjunctive 'or' indicates that the
regulations apply only when surface coal mining and the responsibility for
reclamation occur together under the permanent program. Use of the
disjunctive 'or' would have made it clear that reclamation activities, apart
from mining activities, would require a permit. 0OSM states:

Both coal mining and the responsibility for reclamation must exist within a
discrete jurisdictional time period for the requirements of that jurisdictional
time period to be imposed. Because of the jurisdictional 'break' between the
interim program and the permanent program, 0OSM believes that those operations
which had extracted coal only during the interim program and which now engage
only in reclamation activities are not subject to the permitting requirements
of the permanent program. In other words, when surface coal mining occurs, it
triggers the requirement of reclamation; and both activities are subject to the
permitting requirements only during the jurisdictional period in which bath
activities occur. The regulations require permanent program permits only when
surface coal mining and the responsibility for reclamation occur together
during the permanent program. [FNé1 UWhen coal extraction occurs only in the
interim program period and only reclamation activities occur after state
program approval, the language of the regulations does not require a permanent
program permit for the reclamation activities.

6 Of course, reclamation activities which follow coal extraction which

occurs during the permanent program must be permitted until they are completed
and the bond release occurs.

0f course, following this logic, what was a surface mining and
reclamation operation for purposes of the interim program on May 31, 1982, was
not a surface coal mining and reclamation operation for purposes of the
permanent program on June 1, 1982, the date of Illinois' assumed primacy. It
is OSM's position that this is both logical and practical. The interim program
and the permanent program are separate requlatory regimes. If the two
activities (coal mining and its concomitant reclamation requirement) that
triggered the permit obligation in one regime are not present in the other, the
permit obligation is not triggered.
Reply in Opposition to Appellant's Statement of Reasons at 7-8. We believe

that the language and legislative history of SMCRA and the Federal and Illinois
regulations, support 0SM's position.

OSM further argues, as a matter of policy, that it is impractical to require
mine owners to get a permanent permit when they have only reclamation
activities left to complete under an interim permit 8 months after a permanent
program has been spproved. Although SMCRA clearly requires mining operations
to be permitted, it also requires reclamation to be conducted once mining is
undertaken. See sections 502 and 506 of SMCRA. Reclamation regulation is an
important part of SMCRA. However, 0OSM argues that '[aln operator who already
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sold or contracted its coal at a price calculated without the extensive capital
costs of obtaining a permanent program permit for * * * reclamation activities
after the interim program could face financial ruin' (05M Answer at 8). 0OSM
hypothesizes that the $25,000 to $75,000 estimated cost of a permanent permit
could divert capital expenditures from reclamation activities. That result, of
course, runs counter to the Congressional Intent to see to it that lands which
are mined are reclaimed. Along these lines, 0SM also suggests that out of
economic self-interest, operataors may abandon reclamation and forfeit bond
rather than pay the expense of a permanent permit. Although these reasons
alone, without support from SMCRA and the regulations, would not be sufficient
to persuade us, they offer practical support to a conclusion derived from
evaluating the material before us.

Thus, we conclude that where, as in Midland's situation, there was a

permanent cessation of operations at the Mecco Mine prior to the approval of
the State permanent program permit, the remaining reclamation operations may be
completed under the interim regulations.

Conseguently, appellant's request for a Federal inspection and enforcement
action was properly denied by OSM because there was no violation under the
Department's interpretation of SMCRA and the regulations. The State of
Il1linois interpretation of the regulations is consistent with the Federal
interpretation.

(31 ~Appellant also urged that Midland should be required to submit an
application for a permanent permit for its Mecco Mine reclamation operations in
order to assure that the public participation and substantive reclamation
requirements of the approved Illinois program will be met. The question is,
under the circumstances of this case, whether Midland's reclamation operations
are intended and required by SMCRA to be covered by the permanent program. Ue
have decided that they are not. Consequently, if such reclamation
operations do not require a permanent permit, then they need not be in
compliance with the public participation and substantive reclamatian
requirements of the permanent program. Since Midland need not comply with the
permanent program, its reclamation operations will continue to be subject to
the interim permit requirements, with 0SM and Illinois invested with the
authority to continue enforcement of the interim permit until the work has been
completed. Midland pointed out in its Answer that appellant 'participated in
two full days of hearings conducted by the Illincis Department with respect to
the interim program reclamation plans for Permits 823-82 and 824-82' (Midland's
Answer at 6).

(4] In conclusion, we will briefly address Midland's argument that granting
appellant's appeal would deny Midland due process. Midland, as an intervenor,
had an opportunity to raise any relevant arquments to persuade this Board to
reject appellant's position. Midland asserted, however, that if this Board were
to find that the statute and requlations required Midland to obtain a permanent
permit, the resulting retroactive revocation of Midland's existing interim
program permit would result in a taking of Midland's property without due
process. UWe do not so find and, contrary to Midland's argument, there is no
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‘taking' of Midland's property. However, if we had found that Midland is
required to obtain a permanent permit, Midland would have been given another
opportunity to protect its rights. Under requlations 30 CFR 843.15 and 843.14
Midland may request a hearing if it is issued a notice of violation or
oessation order, As this Board has frequently stated, due process requirements
are met so long as notice is given and an opportunity to be heard is granted
before deprivation of property becomes final. Philip A. Cramer, 74 IBLA 1
(1983); [FNal Anita Robinson, 71 IBLA 380 (1983). [FNbl

Accordingly, pursuant to the authority delegated to the Board of Land
Appeals by the Secretary of the Interior, 43 CFR 4.1, as amended, 49 FR 7564
(Mar. 1, 1984), the decision of the Director, OSM, is affirmed.

Edward W. Stuebing
Administrative Judge
We concur:

James L. Burski
Administrative Judge
Gail M. Frazier
Administrative Judge

Interior Board of Land Appeals
Office of Hearings and Appeals
United States Department of the Interior

FN1 Midland filed applications and proposed reclamation plans with the
Illinois Department for parcel 2 and the haul road area in February 1979, In
May 1979, Midland's applications were deemed 'complete’ under Illinois
procedure and were then filed with the Knox County Clerk for public review. In
September 1979, public hearings were conducted by the Illinois Department in
Knox County on Midland's two applications. During 2 days of hearings, comments
of the public, including appelilant, were heard on Midland's proposed
reclamation plans.

In December 1979, the Illinois Department approved Midland's reclamation plans
and issued permits No. 823-82 (mining) and No. 824-82 (access and haul road)
(Answer of Midland to Appellant's Statement of Reasans at 2).

FN2 Mecco Mine was closed temporarily in May 1980 when the bankruptcy of the
Rock Island Railroad resulted in the cessation of rail service to the mine.
Mecco Mine was closed permanently in May 1982 after all attempts to restore

rail service were unsuccessful (Answer of Midland to Appellant's Statement of
Reasons at 1),

FN3 Midland's Answer at page 1 stated that 'Parcel 2 of Permit 823-82 was
never mined. The only 'mining operations' ever conducted on Parcel 2 were the
initial removal and stockpiling of approximately 172 acres of topsoil and a few
acres of root medium, which took place between December 1979 and May 1980.'

FN4 Midland's Answer at page 2 stated, 'Permit 824-82 covered the haul road
that was intended to serve the area covered by Permit 823-82. Reclamation of
the haul road permit area, which involves approximately 34 acres of road area
and 3 acres associated with power lines, is expected to extend into 1984.'
COPR. (L) 1991 ROCKY MOUNTAIN MINERAL LAl FOUNDATION
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FN9 Murray stated,

‘Section 2.01 of the Act requires a permit for mining operations. Section
1771.21 of the Illinois Rules and Requlations states that a permit will be
necessary for persons who expect to conduct ‘surface coal mining and
reclamation activities.' The words 'reclamation activities' cannot be read
alone; they must be read in conjuction with 'surface coal mining and."
(Emphasis in original.)

FNé Jones advised appellant that OSM's position was based, in part, on section
506(a) of SMCRA which provides, inter alia, that 'no person shall engage in or
carry out on lands within a State any surface coal mining operations unless
such person has first obtained a permit issued by such State pursuant to an
approved State program.'

FN7 Appellant asserted that under section 502(d) of SMCRA, 30 CFR 77.21(a)(1)
and sections 1700.11(f) and 1771.21(a)(1) of the Illinois permanent program
regulations, a permanent program application is clearly required in the subject
case. Further, appellant asserted that the detailed reclamation provisions of
section 508 of SMCRA and 30 CFR Part 780 are to be applied during a state's
permanent program to all surface coal mining and reclamation operations.

FN8 The Illinois regulation at section 1770.11(f) provides in pertinent part:
‘Not later than two months following the approval of the [llinois permanent
program pursuant to section 503 of the Federal Act * * * al] operators of
surface coal mines in expectation of operating such mines after the expiration
of eight months from the approval of the Illinois permanent program * * * shall
file an application for a permit with the Department. Such application shall
cover the approval of the [llinois program.'

Similar language is found at I. R. 1771.21(a)(1) which provides:

'Not later than two months following the initial approval by the Secretary of a
regulatory program for [llinois, * * * gach person who conducts or expects to
conduct surface coal mining and reclamation operations after the expiration of
eight months from that approval shall file an application for a permit for
those operatiaons,'

FN9 SMCRA, section 701(28), states in part:

'(28) 'surface coal mining operations' means--

"(A) activities conducted on the surface of lands in connection with a surface

coal mine * * * the products of which enter commerce or the operations of which

directly or indirectly affect interstate commerce. Such activities include

excavation for the purpose of obtaining coal * * *, the uses of explosives and

blasting, and in situ distillation or retorting, leaching or other chemical or

physical processing, and the cleaning, concentrating, or other processing or

preparation, loading of coal for interstate commsrce at or near the mine

sitei * % % and

'(B) the areas upon which such activities occur or where such activities

disturb the natural land surface. Such areas shall alseo include any adjacent

land the use of which is incidental to any such activities, all lands affected

by the construction of new roads or the improvement or use of existing roads to
COPR. (C) 1991 ROCKY MOUNTAIN MINERAL LAW FOUNDATION
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gain access to the site of such activities and for haulage, and excavations,
workings, impoundments, dams, ventilation shafts, entryways, refuse banks,
dumps, stockpiles, overburden piles, spoil banks, clum banks, tailings, holes
or depressions, repair areas, storage areas, processing areas, shipping areas
and other areas upon which are sited structures, facilities, or other property
or materials on the surface, resulting from or incident to such

activities; * * % |

FN10 's 771.11 General requirements for permits--Operators,

'Except as provided for in s 771.13(b), on and after 8 months from the date on
which a regqulatory program is approved by the Secretary, no person shall engage
in or carry out surface coal mining and reclamation operations on non-Federal
or non-Indian lands within a State, unless that person has first obtained a
valid permit issued by the regulatory authority under an approved regulatory
program, '

FN11 's 771.21 Permit application filing deadlines.

‘(a) Initial implementation of permanent regulatory programs. (1) Not later
than 2 months following the initial approval by the Secretary of a regulatory
program under Subchapter C of this chapter, regardless of litigation contesting
that approval, each person who conducts or expects to conduct surface coal
mining and reclamation operations after the expiration of 8 months from that
approval shall file an application for a permit for those operations.'’

FN12 See 43 FR 41687 (Sept. 18, 1978) and 43 FR 41688 (Sept. 18, 1978).

FN13 1. R. 1770.11(f) follows the language of section 502(d) of SMCRA, while
I. R. 1771.21(a)(1) follows the language of 30 CFR 771.21(a) which is
authorized by the more gensral language of %06(a) of SMCRA.

FNa GFS(MIN) 1657 (1983)

FNb  GFS(MISC) 37 (1983)
GFS(MINY 96 (1984)
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